Contents lists available at SciVerse ScienceDirect



Review

Biochimica et Biophysica Acta



journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/bbacan

A global view of the biochemical pathways involved in the regulation of the metabolism of cancer cells

Philippe Icard ^{a, b,*}, Hubert Lincet ^a

^a Unité "Biologie et Thérapies Innovantes des Cancers Localement Agressifs" (BioTICLA EA 4656), IFR 146 ICORE, Université of Caen Basse-Normandie, and Centre de Lutte Contre le Cancer François Baclesse, Avenue du Général Harris, BP5026, 14076 Caen Cedex 05, France
 ^b University Hospital, Caen, France

ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received 1 June 2012 Received in revised form 9 July 2012 Accepted 10 July 2012 Available online 25 July 2012

Keywords: Energetic metabolism Biochemical pathways Citrate Phosphofructokinase

ABSTRACT

Cancer cells increase glucose uptake and reject lactic acid even in the presence of oxygen (Warburg effect). This metabolism reorients glucose towards the pentose phosphate pathway for ribose synthesis and consumes great amounts of glutamine to sustain nucleotide and fatty acid synthesis. Oxygenated and hypoxic cells cooperate and use their environment in a manner that promotes their development. Coenzymes (NAD⁺, NADPH,H⁺) are required in abundance, whereas continuous consumption of ATP and citrate precludes the negative feedback of these molecules on glycolysis, a regulation supporting the Pasteur effect. Understanding the metabolism of cancer cells may help to develop new anti-cancer treatments.

© 2012 Elsevier B.V. All rights reserved.

Contents

1.	Introduction	4	24
2.	The metabolism of cancer cells: The importance of the Warburg effect and loss of the Pasteur effect	4	24
	2.1. The Warburg effect	4	24
	2.2. Lactic acid production	4	24
	2.3. The main role of HIF-1 α in the loss of the Pasteur effect	4	24
3.	Major catabolic pathways	4	24
	3.1. Glycolysis	4	24
	3.2. Other routes for glucose: Pentose phosphate pathway (PPP) and glycogen storage	4	25
	3.3. Proteolysis provides intermediates for the TCA cycle and base synthesis, and sustains the LDH reaction	4	25
	3.4. Lipolysis may produce an essential part of ATP	4	25
4.	Citrate, cofactors (NAD ⁺ , NADPH,H ⁺) and waste products sustain and promote biosynthesis	4	25
	4.1. The role of citrate in ATP production	4	25
	4.2. NAD ⁺ production is crucial for cancer cell growth regulation	4	26
	4.3. NADPH,H ⁺ production sustains lipid synthesis and the redox system	4	26
	4.4. Waste products and cooperative symbiosis sustain survival and proliferation	4	26
5.	Main anabolic pathways	4	27
	5.1. Lipid synthesis	4	27
	5.2. Nucleotide synthesis	4	28
6.	The reprogramming metabolism favors cancer cell growth	4	29
	6.1. NO production, polyamine synthesis, and S-adenosylmethionine depletion	4	29
	6.2. Resistance to apoptosis	4	29
	6.3. The imbalance between oncogenes and suppressors redirects metabolism to support proliferation	4	29
Ack	nowledgements	4	29
Refe	erences	4	29

* Corresponding author at: BioTICLA EA 4656, Centre de Lutte Contre le Cancer François Baclesse, Avenue du Général Harris, BP5026, 14076 Caen Cedex 05, France. Tel.: + 33 2 31 06 44 53; fax: + 33 2 31 06 51 65.

E-mail address: icard-p@chu-caen.fr (P. Icard).

⁰³⁰⁴⁻⁴¹⁹X/\$ – see front matter 0 2012 Elsevier B.V. All rights reserved. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.bbcan.2012.07.001

1. Introduction

In contrast to normal cells which arrest glycolysis in the presence of oxygen and favor oxidative phosphorylation-ATP production (OXPHOS), cancer cells lose this regulation and favor glycolysis-producing lactate. This "aerobic glycolysis" was first observed by Otto Warburg in the 1920s [1]. The Warburg effect has led to increasing data focusing on the signaling pathways that conduct this reprogramming [2–6]. Understanding the biochemical routes that redirect the metabolism towards biosynthesis may be a source of inspiration for developing new anticancer treatments. The aim of this review is to dissect the main biochemical routes involved, although some of them remain partly deductive, emphasizing the importance of molecules such as NAD⁺, ATP and citrate, for regulating and driving these pathways.

2. The metabolism of cancer cells: The importance of the Warburg effect and loss of the Pasteur effect

The biochemical metabolism of cancer cells is disrupted in order to promote the production of lactate, despite the presence of O_2 .

2.1. The Warburg effect

Cancer cells synthesize great amounts of nucleotides, macromolecules and lipids, and these biosynthesis require continuous production of NAD⁺, NADPH,H⁺ and ATP. They consume at least 10 times more glucose than normal cells [5,7,8] and produce lactic acid, even in the presence of oxygen. High rates of glucose uptake have been clinically used to detect tumours by positron emission tomography with a glucose analogue tracer (PET) [9]. Aerobic glycolysis was considered by Warburg as a defect in mitochondrial respiration [8] and/or in ATP production by others (for review [5]) implying: - F1/F0 ATPase defect or mitochondrial content depletion [10]-SCO2 (synthesis of cytochrome c oxidase 2) defect, since aerobic glycolysis is reversed by re-expressing SCO2, an assembly factor controlled by p53 entering in complex IV [11]; an abrogation of proton gradient by uncoupling proteins (UCP) such as UCP2, which are overexpressed in various cancer cells [12,13]; cardiolipin abnormalities also favoring the dissipation of energy [14]; and mutations in certain electron transport chain (ETC) complexes encoded by mtDNA exposed to ROS damage because mtDNA is not surrounded by histones [15-18]; however, mitochondrial mutations are inconsistently observed [19-26] or remain silent [27].

In contrast to these hypotheses, many cancer lines may not be inherently more glycolytic than normal cells [28], and/or may not generate defective OXPHOS production [29]; their aerobic glycolytic phenotype could be a normal adaptation to a hypoxic environment. The ATP production mode of cancerous and normal cells of the same origin should be compared [28–30], and it is likely that the part of glycolysis depends on the type of cancer cell and on microenvironment, which may or may not provide oxygen and nutrients in abundance. Interestingly, the Warburg effect is not believed to exclusively concern cancer cells, but also embryonic proliferative cells [21].

Cancer cells located in well-oxygenated areas divide the most rapidly, thus favoring OXPHOS production of ATP, in contrast to more hypoxic cells [29,31–33], which need to consume larger amounts of glucose, since OXPHOS is slowed down or arrested, a downregulation which might avoid excessive ROS production [34,35]. In the highly hypoxic core areas of tumors [36,37], glycolysis necessarily becomes the main, if not the unique cause of ATP generation. It is not so surprising that these "hardy cells" correspond to higher malignancy grades [32,38], because hypoxia forces them to adapt and develop several strategies to avoid apoptotic or necrotic death: overexpression of oncogenes, such as hypoxia-inducing factor-1 (HIF-1) which promotes hypoxic metabolism [39,40]; over-activation of cytosolic dehydrogenases, in particular of lactate dehydrogenase A (LDH-A) which produces more NAD⁺ which

is crucial for glycolysis function [13,41–43]; overexpression of antiapoptotic proteins such as Mcl-1 and $Bcl-x_L$ [44–46]; and activation of a mitochondrial autophagy protective effect [47–50].

2.2. Lactic acid production

Lactate production is an essential feature of cancer cells. The isoform LDH-M, which is regulated by the c-Myc [51] and/or HIF-1 target gene *LDH-A* [43], transforms pyruvate into lactate. This route is favored because the conversion of pyruvate in acetyl-CoA through pyruvate dehydrogenase (PDH) is inactivated by pyruvate dehydrogenase kinase 1 (PDK1) [52–54]. This blockade leads to an uncoupling between glycolysis and the TCA cycle (Fig. 1), which drives pyruvate away from acetyl-CoA generation and causes a reduction in the quantities of NADH and FADH₂ delivered to ETC, decreasing ROS production, especially when limited levels of O₂ are present [18,43].

2.3. The main role of HIF-1 α in the loss of the Pasteur effect

In the presence of O₂, normal cells arrest glycolysis (Pasteur effect) in favor of OXPHOS, producing 18 times more ATP than glycolysis. This effect may be related to HIF-1 α [40,43,55], which modifies the expression of numerous genes involved in glycolysis, lactate production and extrusion, angiogenesis and metastasis [56,57]. The kinase mTOR stimulated by AKT favors HIF-1 α transcription [58]. HIF-1 α is a major determinant of the glycolytic phenotype because it activates glucose transporters (GLUT), several key enzymes of glycolysis such as hexokinase II (HKII), phosphofructokinase (PFK) and pyruvate kinase M2 (PKM2) [4,6,43,52,55,59-61]. It also stimulates LDH-A and PDK1, promoting lactic acid production [52,53,59,62]. HIF-1 α is normally inactivated in an oxygen-dependent manner by prolyl hydroxylase domain protein (PHD), which allows HIF-1 α recognition by the von Hippel-Lindau (VHL) protein complex, the latter addressing HIF-1 α for poly-ubiquitylation and destruction at the proteasome [63,64]. In hypoxia (defined as $\leq 2\%$ O₂), HIF-1 α protein expression levels increase gradually with O₂ concentration [32,65,66]. The potential reasons for HIF-1 α escaping inactivation in normoxia include mutation of the von Hippel-Lindau (VHL) protein [67] and inhibition of PHD by succinate and fumarate as a result of mutations in succinate dehydrogenase (SDH) and/or fumarate hydratase (FH) [68-70], which act as suppressor genes since their mutations lead to the development of many tumours [71,72]. Moreover, pyruvate or oxaloacetate (OAA), which accumulate in hypoxia, activate HIF-1 α in a feedback loop, even upon reoxygenation [73]. Lactate also induces HIF-1 α activation [74].

3. Major catabolic pathways

3.1. Glycolysis

To provide essential molecules (ribose, glycerol, serine, etc.) for biosynthesis, glycolysis is slowed down at its end, where pyruvate kinase (PK) converts phosphoenolpyruvate (PEP) into pyruvate, which leads to the production of ATP. This blockade is related to re-expression of PK in its embryonic form (PKM2), which is less active than the adult form. PKM2 plays a key role in the Warburg effect [75-77], and favors the transcription of HIF-1 α in the nucleus [78]. The dimeric phosphorylated form of PKM2 is inactive and causes a bottleneck, favoring glucose metabolism towards biosynthesis. In contrast, the dephosphorylated tetrameric form leads to ATP and lactic acid production [21,76,77]. The switch from the inactive to the active form is an oscillating process, controlled by allosteric regulation implying the concentration of F1,6P and serine [79,80], and by covalent regulation through protein kinase A [75,76,79]. The binding of phosphotyrosine peptides to PKM2 results in the release of its main allosteric activator F1,6P [81,82], whereas phosphatase PP2A deficiency is thought to play a key role in the modulation activity of PKM2 [22]. Due to PKM2 dimeric preponderance in cancer cells [80], pyruvate production derived from glucose is reduced and other sources of pyruvate are needed to sustain LDH activity. Pyruvate may derive from alanine by transamination (ALAT) and/or from malate decarboxylation by ME [83]. PEP, which accumulates above the bottleneck, acts as a feedback inhibitor of triose phosphate isomerase (TPI) [60]. This inhibition results in equal production of dihydroxyacetone phosphate (DHAP) and glyceraldehyde 3-phosphate (GA3P). DHAP feeds glycerol formation for triglyceride synthesis, whereas GA3P sustains PPP for ribose synthesis [60]. GA3P also sustains 3-phosphoglycerate (3-PG) production involved in serine synthesis [84]. PEP may bypass the PKM2 bottleneck and be converted into pyruvate, through an alternative pathway that does not generate ATP, hence avoiding the negative control on PFK1 [85]. Because alternative oscillation between the active and inactive forms of PKM2 is required to produce ATP (but only 2 molecules per glucose), it is likely that other sources of ATP are involved, through mitochondrial oxidation of glutamine or fatty acids.

3.2. Other routes for glucose: Pentose phosphate pathway (PPP) and glycogen storage

Glucose 6-phosphate (G6P) can be used by the PPP to produce ribose 5-phosphate (R5P) which is required in abundance for nucleotide synthesis [86]. If the oxidative part of PPP is involved, it also produces NADPH,H⁺, required for DNA, fatty acid synthesis and the redox system. The balance between the engagement in the oxidative or the non-oxidative part of PPP is regulated by the availability of glucose 6-phosphate (G6P) and NADPH,H⁺ [87] which control glucose 6-phosphate dehydrogenase (G6PDH), the first enzyme in the oxidative part of PPP. F1,6P which accumulates above the PKM2 bottleneck may inhibit G6PDH, limiting the participation of the oxidative branch of the PPP in R5P synthesis [83]. In addition, GA3P is converted into R5P by transketolase (TKTL) and aldolase of the non-oxidative part of PPP. TKTL1 isoform is activated and overexpressed in various cancers, correlating with invasiveness and poor outcome [83,88,89]. Another mechanism could promote the non-oxidative branch of PPP: the inhibition of PFK1 activity results in an increase in F6P that can be channeled into the non-oxidative branch of PPP [90]. Glucose can be stored as glycogen in tumours [91], through glycogen synthase activity, which is inhibited through phosphorylation by glycogen synthase kinase-3 (GSK3). The latter enzyme is thought to play a suppressor role [92], and is inhibited by the PI3K/AKT signaling pathway [93]. Due to GSK3 inactivation, cancer cells may store glycogen in abnormal quantities, which could be used when their microenvironment is impoverished in glucose [30] by glycogen phosphorylase activation [94].

3.3. Proteolysis provides intermediates for the TCA cycle and base synthesis, and sustains the LDH reaction

Cancer cells consume great quantities of amino acids, especially glutamine (Gln) [83,90,95–97], which is the preferential mode of transportation of blood nitrogen (NH₄), and alanine derived from muscle proteolysis, hence favoring cachexia [98]. The rate of consumption is not explained by protein synthesis because it 10 times in excess of the need for essential amino acids [95]. This could be related to the proteolysis-inducing factor (PIF), a catabolic factor produced by tumors which stimulates proteolysis in skeletal muscle [99]. Gln is transported at the plasma membrane [100] and provides amine groups for nucleotides, amino acids, tetrahydrofolate and gluthation synthesis. Gln is converted by the mitochondrial enzyme glutaminase (GLS) into glutamate (Glu), which is transformed by glutamate dehydrogenase (GDH) into α -KG. This intermediate could replenish the TCA cycle, producing OAA, or be expelled outside mitochondria to feed the transaminase reactions that produce aspartate (ASAT) and pyruvate (ALAT) (Fig. 1). Finally, up to 60% of Gln can be converted into lactate [101]. Although the conversion of Gln and Glu is typically bidirectional, the reaction towards Glu is favored by a high Gln input and by overexpression of GLS under c-Myc control [102] and/or suppression of glutamine synthase (GS) [83,103,104].

Glutaminolysis may be the main source of OAA required for TCA cycle function [105], which requires this molecule to be reformed at each cycle. Pyruvate carboxylase (PC), which forms OAA from pyruvate [106,107], is thought to be relatively inactive in cancer cells, because acetyl-CoA, its allosteric activator, is consumed by high CS activity [108]. Finally, glutamine provides a great proportion of citrate, either through glutaminolysis [90] or through the IDH route in case of defective OXPHOS [105]. Citrate subsequently sustains *de novo* lipid synthesis, the LDH route and/or the transaminases cascade (ALAT and ASAT) in a direction that consumes glutamine and alanine.

3.4. Lipolysis may produce an essential part of ATP

The consumption of lipids by cancer cells remains to be further investigated. Cancer cells induce lipolysis in adipose tissues, a characteristic of cachexia, by producing lipid mobilization factors [99]. It is often considered that β -oxidation is suppressed in tumor cells because glycolysis is physiologically activated while B-oxidation is inactivated (and vice versa), and because the PI3K/AKT signaling pathway promotes glycolysis and lipid synthesis [109]. However, from a theoretical point of view, the products of β -oxidation (i.e. acetyl-CoA, NADH,H⁺ and ATP) inhibit PDH, whereas ATP inhibits PK [87,110,111]. Both retroactions reinforce the PK bottleneck and the aforementioned PDH inactivation. Therefore, β -oxidation could be active concurrently to glycolysis in cancer cells, producing a large share of the acetyl-CoA that feeds the CS reaction, rather than pyruvate, which is directed towards lactate production. β -Oxidation is a highly energetic pathway, the complete oxidation of palmitate, a common fatty acid of 16 carbons, resulting in the formation of 106 ATP. It has recently been reported that environmental adipocytes may act as an essential energy storage solution for ovarian cancer cells, providing cancer cells with fatty acids [112]. Therefore, the inhibition of β -oxidation could offer a new therapeutic strategy for counteracting cancer growth, given that the inhibition of the mitochondrial transport of fatty acid may induce cancer cell death [113].

4. Citrate, cofactors (NAD⁺, NADPH,H⁺) and waste products sustain and promote biosynthesis

4.1. The role of citrate in ATP production

Complete oxidation of glucose and of glutamine (glutaminolysis) produces 36 ATP and 9 ATP respectively. Glycolysis is fundamental because it provides intermediates required for proliferation (ribose for nucleotides, glycerol for membrane and serine for tetrahydrofolate synthesis). Although glycolysis is an inefficient way to produce energy (2 ATP products per metabolized glucose), its capacity to very quickly adjust ATP production to the considerable input of glucose could give a selective advantage to proliferative cells [2,114]. Furthermore, ATP is maintained at a low level, precluding the negative feedback of ATP on PFK1. To override this inhibition, PFK2 (also referred to as PFKB3) activation appears fundamental in cancer cells [87,115], and could play a major role in the deregulation that leads to the loss of the Pasteur effect. PFK2 interconverts fructose-6-phosphate into fructose 2,6-bisphosphate (F2,6P), which is a powerful allosteric activator of PFK1, promoting glycolysis, whereas its nuclear overexpression promotes the cell cycle [116–118]. F2,6P is a p53 target which represses glycolytic flux by promoting TIGAR synthesis (TP-53 induced glycolysis and apoptotic regulator) which dephosphorylates F2,6BP [47,119]. PFK1 and PFK2 are also dependent on citrate [120,121], which is a powerful physiological censor of ATP production, allowing close adjustment of metabolic flow

through feedback reactions on key regulator enzymes, not only of glycolysis but also of TCA cycle (PDH, SDH, and malate dehydrogenase: MDH) [122–124]. Therefore, in normal cells, when sufficient quantities of citrate are produced by mitochondria, citrate accumulates outside mitochondria and blocks PFK1 and PFK2 [120,121], whilst simultaneously blocking the TCA cycle which results in the arrest of ATP synthesis [115]. It is likely that cancer cells avoid this citrate feedback on PFK, supporting the Pasteur effect, presumably because citrate is continuously catalyzed by ATP citrate lyase (ACLY) or by isocitrate dehydrogenase (IDH). As expected, ACLY inhibition [125] or cancer cell exposure to citrate blocks glycolysis and leads to cell death in a dose-dependent manner [126,127].

The ACLY route is presumably favored in cancer cells because the TCA flux may be slowed down or inactivated below CS at various levels: aconitase, could be inactivated by HIF1- α [39] or by nitric oxide (NO) [128]; α -ketoglutarate dehydrogenase (α -KDH), an enzyme very similar to PDH could be inactivated by the same mechanisms; and SDH could be inactivated either by citrate [123], malonate (derived from malonyl-CoA)[87] or by mutations [71,72].

The ACLY reaction provides abundant acetyl-CoA for enhanced de novo lipid synthesis, the first enzyme involved in this synthesis acetyl-CoA carboxylase (ACC) - being activated by citrate [87]. ACLY also provides OAA, which is transformed into malate by MDH, producing cytosolic NAD⁺ [83]. Malate returns into mitochondria through the malate/aspartate shuttle (Fig. 1), or is preferentially transformed into pyruvate by malic enzyme (ME), producing NADPH,H⁺ [83]. In hypoxic cancer cells, it is likely that the malate/aspartate shuttle is unprimed [22], because TCA-OXPHOS function is slowed down or arrested. In normoxia, glutamine oxidation feeds the TCA cycle which results in producing OAA which feeds nucleotide synthesis through the aspartate shuttle. Of note, enhanced ACLY activity lowers the cytosolic citrate level, avoiding its negative feedback on PFK. However, when de novo lipid synthesis is slowed down or inactivated, citrate could be transformed into isocitrate by aconitase and then into α -ketoglutarate (α -KG) by IDH. α -KG could feed the TCA cycle or could be diverted towards alanine aminotransferase (ALAT), producing glutamate and pyruvate. It could also be used by mutant IDH, producing 2 hydroxyglutarate (2-HG), a product presenting oncogenic properties [129,130]. Interestingly, in hypoxic situations, the IDH route could be used in a reversed manner to produce citrate, from glutaminederived α -KG [105].

4.2. NAD⁺ production is crucial for cancer cell growth regulation

Cancer cells require an abundance of NAD⁺, which must be regenerated by cytosolic dehydrogenases such as MDH, LDH and glycerol phosphate dehydrogenase (GPDH). The influence of NADH oxidase, which plays a role in inhibiting reactive oxygen species (ROS), to restore the NAD⁺ pool remains to be studied. NAD⁺ supports glycolysis at glyceraldehyde 3-phosphate dehydrogenase (GAPDH) level, and pyrimidine synthesis at the dihydro-orotate dehydrogenase reaction. NAD⁺ also controls the differential regulation of HIF-1 α and HIF-2 α by sirtuin 1 (SIRT1), an NAD⁺-dependent deacetylase [39]. High levels of NAD⁺ activate SIRT1, which results in decreased HIF-1 α transcriptional activity and enhanced HIF-2 α -mediated stimulation of target genes, including erythropoietin, angiogenic factors and aconitase stimulation[39,131]. Although HIF-1 α and HIF-2 α share certain redundant functions, they exhibit unique and even opposing activities in cell growth, metabolism, angiogenesis, nitric oxide production and other processes that affect tumor growth [39]. For example, HIF-1 α stimulates NO production by nitric oxide synthase (iNOS) aimed at restoring local pO₂, in contrast to HIF-2α.

NAD⁺ is also required by poly(ADP-ribose) polymerase (PARP) for efficient base-excision repair of apurinic sites, since cancer cells present frequent DNA breakage that requires repair [79,132,133]. Thus, the metabolic Achilles' heel of the tumor metabolome could be its sensitivity to a reduction of NAD⁺ levels caused by activation of poly(ADP-ribose) polymerase after DNA damage [79]. Interestingly, Weinhouse contested Warburg's ideas, arguing that cancer cells may have normal OXPHOS capacity if supplemented with NAD⁺ [30,134].

4.3. NADPH,H⁺ production sustains lipid synthesis and the redox system

NADPH,H⁺ is consumed in large quantities by reductive biosynthesis of fatty acids, nucleotides and amino acids [2,3,6,21,22,59,132]. For example, palmitate synthesis - a major lipid constituent of membrane requires 14 molecules of NADPH,H⁺. This cofactor also plays a major role as an anti-oxidant, maintaining the pool of reduced glutathione (GSH), a molecule that plays a key role in the detoxification system. ROS promote proliferation via several mechanisms (DNA mutations, phosphatase inhibition generating a brake on protein kinases, etc.) [135,136]. However, when present in excess, ROS create oxidative damage that leads to cell death. NADPH,H⁺ is also required for the redox state of cytochrome c, the lack in oxidized cytochrome c preventing apoptosis induction [137]. For that purpose, NADPH,H⁺ must be continuously regenerated either by the oxidative part of PPP and/or by malic enzyme (ME), the contribution of the latter becoming essential in cells favoring non-oxidative PPP through TKTL1 activation [83,101]. The role of enzymes such as isoforms of IDH [138,139,79] in NADPH, H⁺ production remains to be investigated, given that IDH mutations may be associated with better survival in glioblastoma [140].

4.4. Waste products and cooperative symbiosis sustain survival and proliferation

Acidosis is often associated with hypoxia, but can also be observed in the microenvironment under normoxia conditions [141]. This acidification could be the "raison d'être" of the Warburg effect, promoting cancer cell invasion and spread [142-146], favoring extracellular degradation and selecting phenotypes that are resistant to apoptosis [142,147-149]. In order to acidify their microenvironment, cells extrude lactate via the monocarboxylate transporter 4 (MCT4), regulated by HIF-1 [150] (Fig. 2) and eject protons through several systems, such as the V-ATPase [3] or the sodium-proton exchanger 1 (NHE1) [151–153]. This anti-porter requires to be coupled with the sodium-potassium (Na^+/K^+) -ATPase to avoid the accumulation of sodium in the cytosol [154–156]. Because ATP hydrolysis has been found to be proportionate to lactate formation [157], the overall activity of the (Na^+/K^+) -ATPase observed in fully oxygenated cancer cells could be due to increased lactic fermentation rates, as observed in non-transformed muscle cells [30,158]. To avoid intracellular acidification leading to restricted ribosomal biogenesis [159] and cell cycle arrest [160], it is crucial for cancer cells to export protons. CO₂ produced mainly by oxygenated cancer cells is both a source of microenvironment acidification and of cell cytoplasm alkalinization. It is evacuated and hydrated by carbonic anhydrase-9 (CA-9), a transmembrane enzyme which is overexpressed in various cancer cells [161,162]. CA-9 converts CO₂ into HCO3⁻ and H⁺ which acidifies the microenvironment, whereas HCO3⁻ returns inside cells to maintain a neutral or alkaline pH which favors LDH-5 and PFK1 activities [163,164].

Cells reject lactate, hence favoring tumor angiogenesis [74], reducing cell adherence by stimulating the production of hyaluronan [146] and playing an immunosuppressive role against cytotoxic T cells [165]. Cells also reject alanine and glutamine when in excess, and it has been estimated that more than half of glutamine-derived carbon could be secreted as lactate and alanine [96,101]. These molecules may serve to reproduce glucose by liver gluconeogenesis (Cori cycle). Lactate can be used by oxygenated cancer cells as oxidative fuel. For that purpose, it may be transported by MCT1 in well-oxygenated cells and used to reform pyruvate (through LDH-1 encoded by *LDH-B*)



Fig. 1. A model of the biochemical pathways in cancer cells. Well-oxygenated cells proliferate at a higher rate and consume great amounts of substrates to proliferate. The low activity of PKM2 creates a bottleneck at the end of glycolysis, diverting glucose transformation towards biosynthesis (nucleotides, lipids, etc.) rather than pyruvate formation. PDH slowdown favors an uncoupling between glycolysis and TCA, which is supplemented preferentially by glutaminolysis and/or β oxidation resulting in α -keto and acetyl-CoA production, feeding apartate (derived from OAA) and citrate formation. Citrate moves outside mitochondria, where ACLY reforms acetyl-CoA and OAA. Acetyl-CoA feeds lipid synthesis and target acetylation (histones, proteins, etc.). OAA is converted into malate by MDH or into aspartate by ASAT, which feeds nucleotide synthesis. Malate may return into mitochondria through the malate/aspartate shuttle or may be preferentially transformed into pyruvate by ME, feeding the LDH reaction. The malate/aspartate shuttle operates with two antiporters: one enters malate in mitochondria in exchange for α -KG, whilst the other releases aspartate from the mitochondria in exchange for glutamate. Cytosolic dehydrogenases (MDH, LDH, GPDH) regenerate NAD⁺, whereas the oxidative part of the PPP, and/or ME provides NADPH,H⁺. ACLY: ATP citrate lyase, Ala: alanine, ALAT: alanine amino transferase, ASAT: aspartate amino transferase, 1,3BPG: 1,3-bisphosphoglycerate, DHAP: dihydrogenase, (MDH): glycerol phosphate dehydrogenase, α -KG: α -ketoglutarate, LDH: lacticodehydrogenase, M: malate, MDH: malate dehydrogenase, PEP: phosphate, GAA: oxaloacetate, P: pyruvate, PDH: pyruvate dehydrogenase, PEP: phosphate, CAA: oxaloacetate, P: pyruvate, PDH: pyruvate dehydrogenase, PEP: phosphate ghosphate explande inducleotide, NADPH, H⁺: nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide, hosphate, CAA: oxaloacetate, P: pyruvate, PDH: pyruvate dehydrogenase, PEP: phosphate phosphate for thore dehydrogenase, pyruvate kinase isoform M2, PPP

feeding the TCA cycle of these cells, producing 18 ATP per lactate and sparing glucose for most anoxic cells [59,155,166–168]. This cooperation between hypoxic and normoxic tumor cells optimizes ATP production (as a result a molecule of glucose leads to 38 ATP) and allows cells to adapt efficiently to their environmental oxygen conditions [166–170] (Fig. 2). This "metabolic symbiosis" sustains tumor growth [76] and contributes to chemotherapy and radiotherapy resistance [32,38]. Cancer cells also reject several other end products, such as NH4⁺, NO, glycocyamine, etc., which are likely to promote proliferation and/or re-expression of fetal genes [21]. NH4⁺ derived from glutaminolysis appears as a diffusible autophagy regulator, mediating resistance to chemotherapy and oxidative stress in nutrient-poor regions of solid tumors [171].

5. Main anabolic pathways

Biosyntheses are necessarily enhanced by cancer cells to build new tumor substance. To save the ATP required by essential *de novo* synthesis, it is likely that cells promote salvage pathways, sparing ATP, and directly incorporate several molecules or macromolecules found in their environment [172]. Metabolic coupling occurs between cancer cells and environmental cells such as adipocytes [112] or autophagic stroma cells[97,173,174] that may serve as "food donors."

5.1. Lipid synthesis

Cancer cells are highly dependent on their *de novo* lipid synthesis [175], which is promoted by the PI3K/AKT/mTOR pathway [176], and reflected by increased expression of lipogenic enzymes, such as fatty acid synthase (FAS) [177–180]. Acetyl-CoA derived from citrate is converted into malonyl-CoA under the action of acetyl-CoA carboxylase (ACC), a key regulator enzyme activated by citrate [87]. FAS then catalyses the NADPH-dependent condensation of acetyl-CoA and malonyl-CoA in fatty acids, consuming great quantities of ATP and NADPH,H⁺ [87,110,111]. Of note, acetyl-CoA feeds the acetylation of histone [181], favoring gene expression [2,21,22]. Enhanced CS activity promotes the lipid route rather than mitochondrial ketone body synthesis [182]. It is likely that the ketogenic route and histone acetylation are favored in



Fig. 2. A model of the symbiotic cooperation between normoxic and hypoxic cancer cells. In normoxia conditions, TCA functioning is coupled with OXPHOS for ATP and CO2 production. Because cells produce great amounts of ATP, they proliferate at a higher rate. Inactive PKM2 favors the utilization of glucose towards biosynthesis pathways (ribose, serine, glycerol, etc.). Rejected CO₂ contributes towards the acidification of the environment, promoting invasiveness and dissemination. In the case of severe hypoxia or anoxia, OXPHOS-ATP production is arrested, and glycolysis becomes the unique source of ATP, which is used by cells to survive. Glucose is metabolized into pyruvate by active PKM2 dimeric form, the reaction producing ATP. In this condition, Ala and GIn sustain transaminases cascades (TransA), resulting in pyruvate feeding the LDH-5 reaction, and in aspartate, which is rejected as a waste product, since nucleotide synthesis is arrested due to lack of energy. For the functioning of glycolysis-producing pyruvate, NAD⁺ is crucial and this cofactor is regenerated by LDH-5. Lactate is rejected by MCT4 transporter and acidifies the environment. Lactate may enter normoxic cells by MCT1 and could be used as an important fuel, feeding the TCA cycle after pyruvate transformation by LDH-1 (one lactate results in 18 ATP). In moderate hypoxia, cells proliferate at an intermediate rate, because the production of ATP by TCA-OXPHOS is reduced. Glycolysis is enhanced, the switch between the active and inactive form of PKM2, orienting glucose towards biosynthesis or towards ATP and pyruvate production. Ala and GIn sustain transaminases cascades (TransA), resulting in pyruvate and aspartate production, sustaining the LDH reaction and nucleotide synthesis respectively. Because of PDH slowdown or inactivation, citrate may come from Glu through a reversed IDH route, rather than OAA and acetyl-CoA condensation. The senses of fluxes depend on quantities of O₂ concentration and substrates. This cooperation between hypoxic and normoxic cancer cells optimizes ATP production, since one molecule of glucose results finally in 38 ATP (2 through glycolysis in severe hypoxic cells, and 36 through by TCA functioning in normoxic cells). ACLY: ATP citrate lyase, Ala: alanine, Asp: aspartate, G: glucose, GADPH: glyceraldehyde 3-phosphate dehydrogenase, GDH: glutamate dehydrogenase, GIn: glutamine, GLUT: glucose transporter, GPD: glycerol 3-phosphate dehydrogenase, GS: glutamine synthetase, G6PDH: glucose 6-phosphate dehydrogenase, G6P: glucose 6-phosphate, G3P: glycerol 3-phosphate, HAT: histone acetyl transferase, HIF: hypoxia inducible factor, IDH: isocitrate dehydrogenase, α -KG: α -ketoglutarate, LDH: lacticodehydrogenase, M: malate, MCT: monocarboxylate transporter, NAD+: nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide, OAA: oxaloacetate, OXPHOS oxidative phosphorylation, P: pyruvate, PDH: pyruvate dehydrogenase, PKM2: embryonic isoform of pyruvate kinase, R5P: ribose 5-phosphate, TCA: tricarboxylic acid cycle, TransA: transaminases.

concert, since the ketone product β -hydroxybutyrate contributes to histone acetylation by inhibiting histone deacetylases [183]. Glycerol 3-phosphate (G3P) is crucial for triglyceride biosynthesis and is derived from DHAP by glycerol 3-phosphate dehydrogenase (GPDH). The glycerol phosphate shuttle, which transfers energetic electrons to complex II via FADH,H⁺, could become the main cause of OXPHOS and ROS stimulation when the malate/aspartate shuttle is unprimed.

5.2. Nucleotide synthesis

ATP initiates *de novo* purine synthesis by stimulating the reaction forming 5-phosphoribosyl-1-pyrophosphate (PRPP) from R5P, whereas aspartate feeds the aspartate transcarbamylase reaction opening pyrimidine synthesis with carbamyl-phosphate derived from glutamine by carbamyl-phosphate synthase. Although PRPP is an allosteric activator of the latter enzyme, it enters the last part of pyrimidine synthesis. Nucleotide synthesis consumes great quantities of R5P produced by the oxidative and/or non-oxidative branches of the PPP (as seen above); aspartate derived from the transamination of OAA or from L-asparagine derived from diet and proteolysis by asparaginase, which is targeted in leukemia treatment [184]; glycine derived from serine favored by 3-PG accumulation above the PKM2 bottleneck; and glutamine derived essentially from proteolysis, except under glutamine depletion where it can be synthesized from Glu by GS [185]. Thymidine synthesis, which requires NADPH,H⁺ for dihydrofolate reductase functioning, is coupled with the folate cycle which uses NADPH,H⁺ and serine [186]. Ribonucleosides are transformed into desoxyribonucleosides by thioredoxine, also consuming NADPH,H⁺.

6. The reprogramming metabolism favors cancer cell growth

6.1. NO production, polyamine synthesis, and S-adenosylmethionine depletion

Arginosuccinate synthase (ASS) converts aspartate and citrulline into arginosuccinate, which is then transformed into fumarate and arginine. ASS1 is often inactivated in various types of cancer cells [187,188]. This inactivation has multiple consequences that favor cancer development, such as NO production, polyamine synthesis and S-adenosylmethionine (SAM) depletion. This blockage leads to aspartate accumulation and engages this molecule towards pyrimidine synthesis, whereas it induces cell dependence on extracellular arginine. This semi-essential amino acid is required in abundance by tumors and is diverted towards NO production through NO synthase or converted into ornithine via arginase1, this crossroad being regulated by the HIF1 α /HIF2 α ratio [39]. NO inhibits aconitase [128], favoring the ACLY route, and promotes several pathways that favor proliferation such as gene expression (HIF, PKM2) [21,189] and increased intracellular cGMP sustaining mitosis, the decreased cAMP/ cGMP ratio stimulating glycolysis via PFK1 [190,191]. In contrast, ornithine feeds the polyamine pathway that is coupled with the production of 5 methylthioadenosine, leading to the formation of adenine [108]. For polyamine synthesis, ornithine is decarboxylated in putrescine by ornithine decarboxylase (ODC), and putrescine sustains spermine and spermidine polyamine formation via S-adenosine decarboxylase (SAM decarboxylase), a 5 methylthioadenosine-producing reaction [135]. As a result, arginine via this route sustains purine nucleotide synthesis, sparing ATP molecules. Thus, arginine deprivation diet and arginine depleting enzymes such as pegylated arginine deiminase may affect cancer cell growth [187]. Increased polyamine availability also enhances the capability of cancer cells to invade and metastasize to new tissues while diminishing the anti-tumor immune functions of immune cells [192]. Because polyamine synthesis is coupled with SAM decarboxylase, this process decreases the intracellular SAM pool [108]. SAM deficiency promotes carcinogenesis by DNA hypomethylation [193], resistance to apoptosis [194] and impairment of GSH detoxification, since SAM is a precursor of GSH [195].

6.2. Resistance to apoptosis

Glycolytic metabolism protects cancer cells from apoptosis [196,197]. Various links between resistance to apoptosis and glycolysis have been put forward: AKT has been found to promote growth factorindependent survival, to regulate multiple steps of glycolysis such as the glucose transporter 1 (GLUT1) and hexokinase 1 (HK1), and to prevent activation of Bax, which triggers apoptosis [198]. HK2 is overexpressed in cancer cells and linked to the outer membrane with the voltage-dependant anion channel (VDAC). It competes with Bcl-2 proteins for binding to VDAC and influences the balance of the proand anti-apoptotic proteins that control outer membrane permeabilization [61,199,200]. Overexpression of GAPDH promotes survival of cancer cells even when they have undergone mitochondrial permeabilization, an apoptosis-initiating process [201-203]. Glycolysis is also linked to the two anti-apoptotic proteins Mcl-1 and Bcl-x_L [45,204,205]. Mcl-1 expression is under GSK-3 control [206], and enforcement of glycolysis stabilizes Mcl-1 expression [46,126,207,208]. Bcl-x_L regulates mitochondrial respiration and metabolism and seems to block apoptosis by reducing citrate-derived acetyl-CoA production [209,210]. This decrease prevents the N-acetylation process which is required to activate multiple proteins including caspases [211]. Addition of citrate restores protein N-alpha-acetylation in Bcl-x_L expressing cells and sensitivity to apoptotic stimuli [212]. Glycolysis could also be associated with inactivation of several pro-apoptotic BH3-only proteins: inactivation of Bad may be critical for suppressing apoptosis and maintaining glycolysis. Bad is inactivated by phosphorylation which is JNK1-mediated and is required for maintaining normal glycolysis for cell survival via the activation of PFK-1 [213]. Noxa phosphorylation is Cdk5-mediated and promotes glucose uptake and directs glucose flux towards PPP [214]. Noxa also favors activation of the pro-apoptotic protein Bax whereas it neutralizes the anti-apoptotic Mcl-1. Under glucose deprivation, Cdk5 kinase activity is diminished. Consequently, unphosphorylated Noxa exerts a pro-apoptotic role [215], which involves Mcl-1 degradation and the concerted action of Bim [216]. Two other BH3-only proteins, Bim and PUMA, are downregulated by high glucose metabolism [197,217]. Bim is induced by ER stress, a consequence of glucose deprivation which promotes the accumulation of unfolding proteins [197].

6.3. The imbalance between oncogenes and suppressors redirects metabolism to support proliferation

The role of the signaling pathways that conduct the reprogramming metabolism has been extensively reported in recent years, in particular the role of HIF [39,40,218]. In brief, activated mitogenic pathways (PI3K/AKT/mTOR pathway, HIF-1 α , c-Myc, etc.) are increased due to genetic mutations and stimulate proliferation [2–4,6,103,119,219] in association with the loss of anti-proliferative pathways (P53, P21, PTEN, LKB, AMPK). For example, AKT stimulates glucose uptake, glycolysis, PPP and fatty acid synthesis [220], whereas c-Myc promotes glutamine metabolism as well as purine and pyrimidine biosynthesis [221]. This reorientation of signaling pathways drives expression and/or activation of various enzymes which participate in the specific metabolism of cancer cells, promoting survival and proliferation.

In conclusion, cancer cells adopt a metabolism in a way that favors their development, whilst driving and adapting to their microenvironment in a manner that also promotes their development. Although many questions remain to be elucidated, understanding the biochemical pathways potentially involved helps us to develop new strategies for counteracting cancer proliferation. To induce cancer cell death, at least experimentally, it would be interesting to explore and/or combine different strategies: to inhibit regulator enzymes, notably those that open biochemical pathways, although to expect a significant effect, it would probably be necessary to block at least two pathways; to reduce ATP, NAD⁺ and NADPH,H⁺ production, particularly in hypoxic chemoresistant cells, by targeting the reactions implied in their production, such as PGK1, LDH or ME; to interfere with metabolites located at the crossroads of essential pathways, such as PEP, pyruvate, α -KG, aspartate, by using competitive inhibitors such as 3-bromopyruvate [208,222]; to block metabolite transporters such as MCT [166]; and to increase the level of citrate inside cells by inhibiting ACLY (a combination of alpha lipoic acid and calcium hydroxycitrate is efficient in mouse cancer models [223]) in an aim to reactivate the Pasteur effect, to block PFK and arrest glycolysis [126,127]. Finally, anti-metabolic strategies could be associated with current chemotherapies to improve their efficiency and to sap the mechanisms of chemoresistance.

Acknowledgements

This work was supported by the "Ligue Contre le Cancer" (Comité du Calvados & Manche).

References

- O. Warburg, F. Wind, E. Negelein, The metabolism of tumors in the body, J. Gen. Physiol. 8 (1927) 519–530.
- [2] N. Bellance, P. Lestienne, R. Rossignol, Mitochondria: from bioenergetics to the metabolic regulation of carcinogenesis, Front. Biosci. 14 (2009) 4015–4034.
- [3] G. Kroemer, J. Pouyssegur, Tumor cell metabolism: cancer's Achilles' heel, Cancer Cell 13 (2008) 472–482.
- [4] R.A. Cairns, I.S. Harris, T.W. Mak, Regulation of cancer cell metabolism, Nat. Rev. Cancer 11 (2011) 85–95.
- [5] W.H. Koppenol, P.L. Bounds, C.V. Dang, Otto Warburg's contributions to current concepts of cancer metabolism, Nat. Rev. Cancer 11 (2011) 325–337.

- [6] M.G. Vander Heiden, L.C. Cantlev, C.B. Thompson, Understanding the Warburg effect: the metabolic requirements of cell proliferation, Science 324 (2009) 1029-1033.
- O. Warburg. The Metabolism of Tumors. Constable & Co. Ltd., London, 1930.
- O. WARBURG, On the origin of cancer cells, Science 123 (1956) 309–314.
- [9] G.J. Kelloff, K.A. Krohn, S.M. Larson, R. Weissleder, D.A. Mankoff, J.M. Hoffman, J.M. Link, K.Z. Guyton, W.C. Eckelman, H.I. Scher, J. O'Shaughnessy, B.D. Cheson, C.C. Sigman, J.L. Tatum, G.Q. Mills, D.C. Sullivan, J. Woodcock, The progress and promise of molecular imaging probes in oncologic drug development, Clin. Cancer Res. 11 (2005) 7967-7985.
- [10] J.M. Cuezva, M. Krajewska, M.L. de Heredia, S. Krajewski, G. Santamaria, H. Kim, J.M. Zapata, H. Marusawa, M. Chamorro, J.C. Reed, The bioenergetic signature of cancer: a marker of tumor progression, Cancer Res. 62 (2002) 6674-6681
- [11] S. Matoba, J.G. Kang, W.D. Patino, A. Wragg, M. Boehm, O. Gavrilova, P.J. Hurley, F. Bunz, P.M. Hwang, p53 regulates mitochondrial respiration, Science 312 (2006) 1650–1653
- [12] Z. Derdak, N.M. Mark, G. Beldi, S.C. Robson, J.R. Wands, G. Baffy, The mitochondrial uncoupling protein-2 promotes chemoresistance in cancer cells, Cancer Res. 68 (2008) 2813-2819.
- [13] I. Samudio, M. Fiegl, M. Andreeff, Mitochondrial uncoupling and the Warburg effect: molecular basis for the reprogramming of cancer cell metabolism, Cancer Res. 69 (2009) 2163-2166.
- [14] M.A. Kiebish, X. Han, H. Cheng, J.H. Chuang, T.N. Seyfried, Cardiolipin and electron transport chain abnormalities in mouse brain tumor mitochondria: lipidomic evidence supporting the Warburg theory of cancer, J. Lipid Res. 49 (2008) 2545 - 2556.
- [15] A. Dlaskova, L. Hlavata, P. Jezek, Oxidative stress caused by blocking of mitochondrial complex I H(+) pumping as a link in aging/disease vicious cycle, Int. J. Biochem. Cell Biol. 40 (2008) 1792-1805.
- [16] E. Bonora, A.M. Porcelli, G. Gasparre, A. Biondi, A. Ghelli, V. Carelli, A. Baracca, G. Tallini, A. Martinuzzi, G. Lenaz, M. Rugolo, G. Romeo, Defective oxidative phosphorylation in thyroid oncocytic carcinoma is associated with pathogenic mitochondrial DNA mutations affecting complexes I and III, Cancer Res. 66 2006) 6087-6096
- [17] J.I. Piruat, J. Lopez-Barneo, Oxygen tension regulates mitochondrial DNA-encoded complex I gene expression, J. Biol. Chem. 280 (2005) 42676-42684.
- [18] T. Klimova, N.S. Chandel, Mitochondrial complex III regulates hypoxic activation of HIF, Cell Death Differ. 15 (2008) 660-666.
- [19] M. Brandon, P. Baldi, D.C. Wallace, Mitochondrial mutations in cancer, Oncogene 25 (2006) 4647-4662.
- [20] R.G. Bristow, R.P. Hill, Hypoxia and metabolism. Hypoxia, DNA repair and genetic instabilit, Nat. Rev. Cancer 8 (2008) 180-192.
- M. Israël, Four Hidden Metamorphoses: a Remark on Blood, Muscle, Mental [21] Diseases and Cancer, John Libbey Eurotext, 2004.
- M. Israël, Cancer: a Dysmethylation Syndrome, John Libbey Eurotext, 2005.
- [23] F. Lopez-Rios, M. Sanchez-Arago, E. Garcia-Garcia, A.D. Ortega, J.R. Berrendero, F. Pozo-Rodriguez, A. Lopez-Encuentra, C. Ballestin, J.M. Cuezva, Loss of the mitochondrial bioenergetic capacity underlies the glucose avidity of carcinomas, Cancer Res. 67 (2007) 9013-9017.
- [24] S. Ohta, Contribution of somatic mutations in the mitochondrial genome to the development of cancer and tolerance against anticancer drugs, Oncogene 25 (2006) 4768-4776.
- [25] H. Simonnet, J. Demont, K. Pfeiffer, L. Guenaneche, R. Bouvier, U. Brandt, H. Schagger, C. Godinot, Mitochondrial complex I is deficient in renal oncocytomas, Carcinogenesis 24 (2003) 1461-1466.
- [26] R.H. Xu, H. Pelicano, Y. Zhou, J.S. Carew, L. Feng, K.N. Bhalla, M.J. Keating, P. Huang, Inhibition of glycolysis in cancer cells: a novel strategy to overcome drug resistance associated with mitochondrial respiratory defect and hypoxia, Cancer Res. 65 (2005) 613-621.
- [27] D. Meierhofer, J.A. Mayr, K. Fink, N. Schmeller, B. Kofler, W. Sperl, Mitochondrial DNA mutations in renal cell carcinomas revealed no general impact on energy metabolism, Br. J. Cancer 94 (2006) 268-274.
- [28] X.L. Zu, M. Guppy, Cancer metabolism: facts, fantasy, and fiction, Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 313 (2004) 459-465.
- [29] R. Moreno-Sanchez, S. Rodriguez-Enriquez, A. Marin-Hernandez, E. Saavedra, Energy metabolism in tumor cells, FEBS J. 274 (2007) 1393-1418.
- [30] L.M.R. Ferreira, Cancer metabolism: the Warburg effect today, Exp. Mol. Pathol. 89 (2010) 372-380.
- [31] M. Koshiji, Y. Kageyama, E.A. Pete, I. Horikawa, J.C. Barrett, L.E. Huang, HIF-1alpha induces cell cycle arrest by functionally counteracting Myc, EMBO 23 (2004) 1949-1956.
- [32] J.A. Bertout, S.A. Patel, M.C. Simon, The impact of O2 availability on human cancer, Nat. Rev. Cancer 8 (2008) 967-975.
- [33] A.L. Barachal, H.A. BICKERMAN, The effect of anoxia on tumor growth with special reference to sarcoma 180 implanted in C57 mice. Cancer Res. 14 (1954) 672-676.
- [34] D.C. Wallace, Mitochondria and cancer: Warburg addressed, Cold Spring Harb. Symp. Quant. Biol. 70 (2005) 363-374.
- M. Wu, A. Neilson, A.L. Swift, R. Moran, J. Tamagnine, D. Parslow, S. Armistead, K. [35] Lemire, J. Orrell, J. Teich, S. Chomicz, D.A. Ferrick, Multiparameter metabolic analysis reveals a close link between attenuated mitochondrial bioenergetic function and enhanced glycolysis dependency in human tumor cells, Am. J. Physiol. Cell Physiol. 292 (2007) C125–C136.
- [36] M. Guppy, The hypoxic core: a possible answer to the cancer paradox, Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 299 (2002) 676-680.

- [37] P. Vaupel, O. Thews, D.K. Kelleher, M. Hoeckel, Current status of knowledge and critical issues in tumor oxygenation. Results from 25 years research in tumor pathophysiology, Adv. Exp, Med. Biol. 454 (1998) 591-602.
- [38] P. Vaupel, A. Mayer, Hypoxia in cancer: significance and impact on clinical outcome, Cancer Metastasis Rev. 26 (2007) 225-239.
- [39] B. Keith, R.S. Johnson, M.C. Simon, HIF1alpha and HIF2alpha: sibling rivalry in hypoxic tumour growth and progression, Nat. Rev. Cancer 12 (2012) 9-22.
- [40] G.L. Semenza, Targeting HIF-1 for cancer therapy, Nat. Rev. Cancer 3 (2003) 721-732
- [41] Y. Kolev, H. Uetake, Y. Takagi, K. Sugihara, Lactate dehydrogenase-5 (LDH-5) expression in human gastric cancer: association with hypoxia-inducible factor (HIF-1alpha) pathway, angiogenic factors production and poor prognosis, Ann. Surg. Oncol. 15 (2008) 2336-2344.
- [42] V.R. Fantin, J. St Pierre, P. Leder, Attenuation of LDH-A expression uncovers a link between glycolysis, mitochondrial physiology, and tumor maintenance, Cancer Cell 9 (2006) 425-434.
- [43] G.L. Semenza, B.H. Jiang, S.W. Leung, R. Passantino, J.P. Concordet, P. Maire, A. Giallongo, Hypoxia response elements in the aldolase A, enolase 1, and lactate dehydrogenase A gene promoters contain essential binding sites for hypoxiainducible factor 1, J. Biol. Chem. 271 (1996) 32529-32537.
- [44] J.R. Liu, B. Fletcher, C. Page, C. Hu, G. Nunez, V. Baker, Bcl-xL is expressed in ovarian carcinoma and modulates chemotherapy-induced apoptosis, Gynecol. Oncol. 70 (1998) 398-403.
- [45] E. Varin, C. Denoyelle, E. Brotin, M. Meryet-Figuiere, F. Giffard, E. Abeilard, D. Goux, P. Gauduchon, P. Icard, L. Poulain, Downregulation of Bcl-xL and Mcl-1 is sufficient to induce cell death in mesothelioma cells highly refractory to conventional chemotherapy, Carcinogenesis 31 (2010) 984-993.
- [46] X. Zhang, E. Varin, M. Briand, S. Allouche, N. Heutte, L. Schwartz, L. Poulain, P. Icard, Novel therapy for malignant pleural mesothelioma based on anti-energetic effect: an experimental study using 3-bromopyruvate on nude mice, Anticancer Res. 29 (2009) 1443-1448.
- [47] K. Bensaad, E.C. Cheung, K.H. Vousden, Modulation of intracellular ROS levels by TIGAR controls autophagy, EMBO J. 28 (2009) 3015-3026.
- [48] J.J. Lum, D.E. Bauer, M. Kong, M.H. Harris, C. Li, T. Lindsten, C.B. Thompson, Growth factor regulation of autophagy and cell survival in the absence of apoptosis, Cell 120 (2005) $\overline{237}$ -248.
- M.C. Brahimi-Horn, J. Chiche, J. Pouyssegur, Hypoxia signalling controls meta-[49] bolic demand, Curr. Opin. Cell Biol. 19 (2007) 223-229.
- [50] K.A. Webster, R.M. Graham, N.H. Bishopric, BNip3 and signal-specific programmed death in the heart, J. Mol. Cell. Cardiol. 38 (2005) 35-45.
- [51] H. Shim, C. Dolde, B.C. Lewis, C.S. Wu, G. Dang, R.A. Jungmann, R. Dalla-Favera, C.V. Dang, c-Myc transactivation of LDH-A: implications for tumor metabolism and growth, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 94 (1997) 6658-6663.
- J.W. Kim, I. Tchernyshyov, G.L. Semenza, C.V. Dang, HIF-1-mediated expression [52] of pyruvate dehydrogenase kinase: a metabolic switch required for cellular adaptation to hypoxia, Cell Metab. 3 (2006) 177-185.
- [53] A. Marin-Hernandez, J.C. Gallardo-Perez, S.J. Ralph, S. Rodriguez-Enriquez, R. Moreno-Sanchez, HIF-1alpha modulates energy metabolism in cancer cells by inducing over-expression of specific glycolytic isoforms, Mini Rev. Med. Chem. 9 (2009) 1084-1101.
- [54] I. Papandreou, T. Goliasova, N.C. Denko, Anticancer drugs that target metabolism: is dichloroacetate the new paradigm? Int. J. Cancer 128 (2011) 1001-1008.
- [55] G.L. Semenza, HIF-1: upstream and downstream of cancer metabolism, Curr. Opin. Genet. Dev. 20 (2010) 51-56.
- [56] J. Pouyssegur, A. Franchi, G. Pages, pHi, aerobic glycolysis and vascular endothelial growth factor in tumour growth, Novartis Found. Symp. 240 (2001) 186-196.
- [57] S. Romero-Garcia, J.S. Lopez-Gonzalez, J.L. Baez-Viveros, D. Aguilar-Cazares, H. Prado-Garcia, Tumor cell metabolism: an integral view, Cancer Biol. Ther. 12 (2011) 939-948.
- [58] A. Toschi, E. Lee, N. Gadir, M. Ohh, D.A. Foster, Differential dependence of hypoxia-inducible factors 1 alpha and 2 alpha on mTORC1 and mTORC2, J. Biol. Chem. 283 (2008) 34495-34499.
- [59] O. Feron, Pyruvate into lactate and back: from the Warburg effect to symbiotic energy fuel exchange in cancer cells, Radiother. Oncol. 92 (2009) 329-333.
- [60] N.M. Gruning, M. Rinnerthaler, K. Bluemlein, M. Mulleder, M.M. Wamelink, H. Lehrach, C. Jakobs, M. Breitenbach, M. Ralser, Pyruvate kinase triggers a metabolic feedback loop that controls redox metabolism in respiring cells, Cell Metab. 14 (2011) 415-427.
- [61] J.G. Pastorino, J.B. Hoek, Regulation of hexokinase binding to VDAC, J. Bioenerg. Biomembr. 40 (2008) 171-182.
- [62] I. Papandreou, R.A. Cairns, L. Fontana, A.L. Lim, N.C. Denko, HIF-1 mediates adaptation to hypoxia by actively downregulating mitochondrial oxygen consumption, Cell Metab. 3 (2006) 187-197.
- [63] E. Berra, E. Benizri, A. Ginouves, V. Volmat, D. Roux, J. Pouyssegur, HIF prolylhydroxylase 2 is the key oxygen sensor setting low steady-state levels of HIF-1alpha in normoxia, EMBO J. 22 (2003) 4082–4090.
- [64] A.L. Harris, Hypoxia-a key regulatory factor in tumour growth, Nat. Rev. Cancer 2 (2002) 38-47.
- [65] B.H. Jiang, G.L. Semenza, C. Bauer, H.H. Marti, Hypoxia-inducible factor 1 levels vary exponentially over a physiologically relevant range of O2 tension, Am. J. Physiol. 271 (1996) C1172-C1180.
- [66] M.C. Simon, L. Liu, B.C. Barnhart, R.M. Young, Hypoxia-induced signaling in the cardiovascular system, Annu. Rev. Physiol. 70 (2008) 51–71. [67] F.J. Hes, J.W. Hoppener, R.B. Luijt, C.J. Lips, Von Hippel–Lindau disease, Hered.
- Cancer Clin. Pract. 3 (2005) 171-178.

- [68] P.J. Pollard, J.J. Briere, N.A. Alam, J. Barwell, E. Barclay, N.C. Wortham, T. Hunt, M. Mitchell, S. Olpin, S.J. Moat, I.P. Hargreaves, S.J. Heales, Y.L. Chung, J.R. Griffiths, A. Dalgleish, J.A. McGrath, M.J. Gleeson, S.V. Hodgson, R. Poulsom, P. Rustin, I.P. Tomlinson, Accumulation of Krebs cycle intermediates and over-expression of HIF1alpha in tumours which result from germline FH and SDH mutations, Hum. Mol. Genet. 14 (2005) 2231–2239.
- [69] P. Koivunen, M. Hirsila, A.M. Remes, I.E. Hassinen, K.I. Kivirikko, J. Myllyharju, Inhibition of hypoxia-inducible factor (HIF) hydroxylases by citric acid cycle intermediates: possible links between cell metabolism and stabilization of HIF, J. Biol. Chem. 282 (2007) 4524–4532.
- [70] H. Boulahbel, R.V. Duran, E. Gottlieb, Prolyl hydroxylases as regulators of cell metabolism, Biochem. Soc. Trans. 37 (2009) 291–294.
- [71] A. King, M.A. Selak, E. Gottlieb, Succinate dehydrogenase and fumarate hydratase: linking mitochondrial dysfunction and cancer, Oncogene 25 (2006) 4675–4682.
- [72] E. Gottlieb, I.P. Tomlinson, Mitochondrial tumour suppressors: a genetic and biochemical update, Nat. Rev. Cancer 5 (2005) 857–866.
- [73] C.L. Dalgard, H. Lu, A. Mohyeldin, A. Verma, Endogenous 2-oxoacids differentially regulate expression of oxygen sensors, Biochem. J. 380 (2004) 419–424.
- [74] H. Lu, R.A. Forbes, A. Verma, Hypoxia-inducible factor 1 activation by aerobic glycolysis implicates the Warburg effect in carcinogenesis, J. Biol. Chem. 277 (2002) 23111–23115.
- [75] E. Eigenbrodt, M. Reinacher, U. Scheefers-Borchel, H. Scheefers, R. Friis, Double role for pyruvate kinase type M2 in the expansion of phosphometabolite pools found in tumor cells, Crit. Rev. Oncog. 3 (1992) 91–115.
- [76] S. Mazurek, H. Grimm, C.B. Boschek, P. Vaupel, E. Eigenbrodt, Pyruvate kinase type M2: a crossroad in the tumor metabolome, Br. J. Nutr. 87 (Suppl. 1) (2002) S23–S29.
- [77] S. Mazurek, Pyruvate kinase M2: a key enzyme of the tumor metabolome and its medical relevance, Biomed. Res. 23 (2012) 133–141.
- [78] W. Luo, H. Hu, R. Chang, J. Zhong, M. Knabel, R. O'Meally, R.N. Cole, A. Pandey, G.L. Semenza, Pyruvate kinase M2 is a PHD3-stimulated coactivator for hypoxiainducible factor 1, Cell 145 (2011) 732–744.
- [79] S. Mazurek, E. Eigenbrodt, The tumor metabolome, Anticancer Res. 23 (2003) 1149–1154.
- [80] S. Mazurek, Pyruvate kinase type M2: a key regulator of the metabolic budget system in tumor cells, Int. J. Biochem. Cell Biol. 43 (2011) 969–980.
- [81] H.R. Christofk, M.G. Vander Heiden, N. Wu, J.M. Asara, L.C. Cantley, Pyruvate kinase M2 is a phosphotyrosine-binding protein, Nature 452 (2008) 181–186.
- [82] H.R. Christofk, M.G. Vander Heiden, M.H. Harris, A. Ramanathan, R.E. Gerszten, R. Wei, M.D. Fleming, S.L. Schreiber, L.C. Cantley, The M2 splice isoform of pyruvate kinase is important for cancer metabolism and tumour growth, Nature 452 (2008) 230–233.
- [83] R.J. Deberardinis, N. Sayed, D. Ditsworth, C.B. Thompson, Brick by brick: metabolism and tumor cell growth, Curr. Opin. Genet. Dev. 18 (2008) 54–61.
- [84] H. Lincet, B. Guével, C. Pineau, S. Allouche, E. Lemoisson, L. Poulain, P. Gauduchon, Comparative 2D-DIGE proteomic analysis of ovarian carcinoma cells: toward a reorientation of biosynthesis pathways associated with acquired platinum resistance, J. Proteomics 75 (2012) 1157–1169.
- [85] M.G. Vander Heiden, Targeting cancer metabolism: a therapeutic window opens, Nat. Rev. Drug Discov. 10 (2011) 671-684.
- [86] A. Ramos-Montoya, W.N. Lee, S. Bassilian, S. Lim, R.V. Trebukhina, M.V. Kazhyna, C.J. Ciudad, V. Noe, J.J. Centelles, M. Cascante, Pentose phosphate cycle oxidative and nonoxidative balance: a new vulnerable target for overcoming drug resistance in cancer, Int. J. Cancer 119 (2006) 2733–2741.
- [87] A.L. Lehninger, Biochemistry, the Molecular Basis of Cell Structure and Function, Worth Publishers, Inc., 1975.
- [88] M. Krockenberger, A. Honig, L. Rieger, J.F. Coy, M. Sutterlin, M. Kapp, E. Horn, J. Dietl, U. Kammerer, Transketolase-like 1 expression correlates with subtypes of ovarian cancer and the presence of distant metastases, Int. J. Gynecol. Cancer 17 (2007) 101–106.
- [89] S. Langbein, M. Zerilli, A. Zur Hausen, W. Staiger, K. Rensch-Boschert, N. Lukan, J. Popa, M.F. Ternullo, A. Steilder, C. Weiss, R. Grobholz, F. Willeke, F. Alken, G. Stassi, F. Schubert, J.F. Coy, Expression of transketolase TKTL1 predicts colon and urothelial cancer patient survival: Warburg effect reinterpreted, Br. J. Cancer 94 (2006) 578–584.
- [90] R.J. Deberardinis, T. Cheng, Q's next: the diverse functions of glutamine in metabolism, cell biology and cancer, Oncogene 29 (2010) 313–324.
- [91] C.F. Cori, G.T. Cori, The carbohydrate metabolism of tumors. I. The free sugar, lactic acid, and glycogen content of malignant tumors, J. Biol. Chem. 64 (1925) 11–22.
- [92] R.G. Jones, C.B. Thompson, Tumor suppressors and cell metabolism: a recipe for cancer growth, Genes Dev. 23 (2009) 537–548.
- [93] R.S. Jope, M.S. Roh, Glycogen synthase kinase-3 (GSK3) in psychiatric diseases and therapeutic interventions, Curr. Drug Targets 7 (2006) 1421–1431.
- [94] M.L. Parolin, L.L. Spriet, E. Hultman, M.G. Hollidge-Horvat, N.L. Jones, G.J. Heigenhauser, Regulation of glycogen phosphorylase and PDH during exercise in human skeletal muscle during hypoxia, Am. J. Physiol. Endocrinol. Metab. 278 (2000) E522–E534.
- [95] H. Eagle, V.I. Oyama, M. Levy, C.L. Horton, R. Fleischman, The growth response of mammalian cells in tissue culture to L-glutamine and L-glutamic acid, J. Biol. Chem. 218 (1956) 607–616.
- [96] L.J. Reitzer, B.M. Wice, D. Kennell, Evidence that glutamine, not sugar, is the major energy source for cultured HeLa cells, J. Biol. Chem. 254 (1979) 2669–2676.
- [97] Y.H. Ko, Z. Lin, N. Flomenberg, R.G. Pestell, A. Howell, F. Sotgia, M.P. Lisanti, U.E. Martinez-Outschoorn, Glutamine fuels a vicious cycle of autophagy in the tumor stroma and oxidative mitochondrial metabolism in epithelial cancer cells: Implications for preventing chemotherapy resistance, Cancer Biol. Ther. 12 (2011) 1085–1097.

- [98] M.A. Medina, Glutamine and cancer, J. Nutr. 131 (2001) 2539S-2542S.
- [99] M.J. Tisdale, Tumor-host interactions, J. Cell. Biochem. 93 (2004) 871-877.
- [100] J.D. McGivan, C.I. Bungard, The transport of glutamine into mammalian cells, Front. Biosci. 12 (2007) 874–882.
 [101] R.J. DeBerardinis, A. Mancuso, E. Daikhin, I. Nissim, M. Yudkoff, S. Wehrli, C.B.
- [101] KJ. DeBerardinis, A. Mancuso, E. Daikhin, I. Nissim, M. Yudkoti, S. Wehriti, C.B. Thompson, Beyond aerobic glycolysis: transformed cells can engage in glutamine metabolism that exceeds the requirement for protein and nucleotide synthesis, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 104 (2007) 19345–19350.
- [102] C.V. Dang, A. Le, P. Gao, MYC-induced cancer cell energy metabolism and therapeutic opportunities, Clin. Cancer Res. 15 (2009) 6479–6483.
- [103] P. Gao, I. Tchernyshyov, T.C. Chang, Y.S. Lee, K. Kita, T. Ochi, K.I. Zeller, A.M. De Marzo, J.E. Van Eyk, J.T. Mendell, C.V. Dang, c-Myc suppression of miR-23a/b enhances mitochondrial glutaminase expression and glutamine metabolism, Nature 458 (2009) 762–765.
- [104] J.M. Mates, J.A. Segura, J.A. Campos-Sandoval, C. Lobo, L. Alonso, F.J. Alonso, J. Marquez, Glutamine homeostasis and mitochondrial dynamics, Int. J. Biochem. Cell Biol. 41 (2009) 2051–2061.
- [105] A.R. Mullen, W.W. Wheaton, E.S. Jin, P.H. Chen, L.B. Sullivan, T. Cheng, Y. Yang, W.M. Linehan, N.S. Chandel, R.J. Deberardinis, Reductive carboxylation supports growth in tumour cells with defective mitochondria, Nature 481 (2012) 385–388.
- [106] K.J. Liu, R. Kleps, T. Henderson, L. Nyhus, 13C NMR study of hepatic pyruvate carboxylase activity in tumor rats, Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 179 (1991) 366–371.
- [107] A. Brand, J. Engelmann, D. Leibfritz, A 13C NMR study on fluxes into the TCA cycle of neuronal and glial tumor cell lines and primary cells, Biochimie 74 (1992) 941–948.
- [108] M. Israël, L. Schwartz, On the metabolic origin of cancer: substances that target tumor, Biomed. Res. 22 (2011) 130–164.
- [109] J.L. Chen, J.E. Lucas, T. Schroeder, S. Mori, J. Wu, J. Nevins, M. Dewhirst, M. West, J.T. Chi, The genomic analysis of lactic acidosis and acidosis response in human cancers, PLoS Genet. 4 (2008) e1000293.
- [110] P.N. Campbell, Biochemistry Illustrated, Churchill Livingstone, 2000.
- [111] L. Stryer, Biochemistry, W. H. Freeman and Company, New York, 1981.
- [112] K.M. Nieman, H.A. Kenny, C.V. Penicka, A. Ladanyi, R. Buell-Gutbrod, M.R. Zillhardt, I.L. Romero, M.S. Carey, G.B. Mills, G.S. Hotamisligil, S.D. Yamada, M.E. Peter, K. Gwin, E. Lengyel, Adipocytes promote ovarian cancer metastasis and provide energy for rapid tumor growth, Nat. Med. 17 (2011) 1498–1503.
- [113] M.B. Paumen, Y. Ishida, M. Muramatsu, M. Yamamoto, T. Honjo, Inhibition of carnitine palmitoyltransferase I augments sphingolipid synthesis and palmitateinduced apoptosis, J. Biol. Chem. 272 (1997) 3324–3329.
- [114] M.G. Vander Heiden, J.W. Locasale, K.D. Swanson, H. Sharfi, G.J. Heffron, D. Amador-Noguez, H.R. Christofk, G. Wagner, J.D. Rabinowitz, J.M. Asara, L.C. Cantley, Evidence for an alternative glycolytic pathway in rapidly proliferating cells, Science 329 (2010) 1492–1499.
- [115] P. Icard, L. Poulain, H. Lincet, Understanding the central role of citrate in the metabolism of cancer cells, Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1825 (2012) 111–116.
- [116] J. Chesney, 6-phosphofructo-2-kinase/fructose-2,6-bisphosphatase and tumor cell glycolysis, Curr. Opin. Clin. Nutr. Metab. Care 9 (2006) 535–539.
- [117] A. Yalcin, B.F. Clem, A. Simmons, A. Lane, K. Nelson, A.L. Clem, E. Brock, D. Siow, B. Wattenberg, S. Telang, J. Chesney, Nuclear targeting of 6-phosphofructo-2-kinase (PFKFB3) increases proliferation via cyclin-dependent kinases, J. Biol. Chem. 284 (2009) 24223–24232.
- [118] A. Yalcin, S. Telang, B. Clem, J. Chesney, Regulation of glucose metabolism by 6-phosphofructo-2-kinase/fructose-2,6-bisphosphatases in cancer, Exp. Mol. Pathol. 86 (2009) 174–179.
- [119] I.A. Olovnikov, J.E. Kravchenko, P.M. Chumakov, Homeostatic functions of the p53 tumor suppressor: regulation of energy metabolism and antioxidant defense, Semin. Cancer Biol. 19 (2009) 32–41.
- [120] A. Usenik, M. Legisa, Evolution of allosteric citrate binding sites on 6-phosphofructo-1-kinase, PLoS One 5 (2010) e15447.
- [121] L. Hue, L. Maisin, M.H. Rider, Palmitate inhibits liver glycolysis. Involvement of fructose 2,6-bisphosphate in the glucose/fatty acid cycle, Biochem. J. 251 (1988) 541–545.
- [122] LA. Fahien, E.H. Kmiotek, M.J. MacDonald, B. Fibich, M. Mandic, Regulation of malate dehydrogenase activity by glutamate, citrate, alpha-ketoglutarate, and multienzyme interaction, J. Biol. Chem. 263 (1988) 10687–10697.
- [123] M. Hillar, V. Lott, B. Lennox, Correlation of the effects of citric acid cycle metabolites on succinate oxidation by rat liver mitochondria and submitochondrial particles, J. Bioenerg, 7 (1975) 1–16.
- [124] W.M. Taylor, M.L. Halperin, Regulation of pyruvate dehydrogenase in muscle. Inhibition by citrate, J. Biol. Chem. 248 (1973) 6080–6083.
- [125] G. Hatzivassiliou, F. Zhao, D.E. Bauer, C. Andreadis, A.N. Shaw, D. Dhanak, S.R. Hingorani, D.A. Tuveson, C.B. Thompson, ATP citrate lyase inhibition can suppress tumor cell growth, Cancer Cell 8 (2005) 311–321.
- [126] Y. Lu, X.D. Zhang, J. Lan, G. Huang, E. Varin, H. Lincet, L. Poulain, P. Icard, Citrate induces apoptotic cell death: a promising way for treating gastric carcinoma? Anticancer Res. 31 (2011) 797–805.
- [127] X. Zhang, E. Varin, S. Allouche, Y. Lu, L. Poulain, P. Icard, Effect of citrate on malignant pleural mesothelioma cells: a synergistic effect with cisplatin, Anticancer Res. 29 (2009) 1249–1254.
- [128] P.R. Gardner, D.D. Nguyen, C.W. White, Aconitase is a sensitive and critical target of oxygen poisoning in cultured mammalian cells and in rat lungs, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 91 (1994) 12248–12252.
- [129] L. Dang, D.W. White, S. Gross, B.D. Bennett, M.A. Bittinger, E.M. Driggers, V.R. Fantin, H.G. Jang, S. Jin, M.C. Keenan, K.M. Marks, R.M. Prins, P.S. Wards, K.E. Yen, L.M. Liau, J.D. Rabinowitz, L.C. Cantley, C.B. Thompson, M.G. Vander Heiden, S.M. Su,

Cancer-associated IDH1 mutations produce 2-hydroxyglutarate, Nature 462 (2009) 739-744.

- [130] S. Gross, R.A. Cairns, M.D. Minden, E.M. Driggers, M.A. Bittinger, H.G. Jang, M. Sasaki, S. Jin, D.P. Schenkein, S.M. Su, L. Dang, V.R. Fantin, T.W. Mak, Cancer-associated metabolite 2-hydroxyglutarate accumulates in acute myelogenous leukemia with isocitrate dehydrogenase 1 and 2 mutations, J. Exp. Med. 207 (2010) 339-344. [131] W.H. Tong, T.A. Rouault, Metabolic regulation of citrate and iron by aconitases:
- role of iron-sulfur cluster biogenesis, Biometals 3 (2007) 549-564.
- [132] N.M. Gruning, H. Lehrach, M. Ralser, Regulatory crosstalk of the metabolic network, Trends Biochem. Sci. 35 (2010) 220-227.
- [133] T. Helleday, E. Petermann, C. Lundin, B. Hodgson, R.A. Sharma, DNA repair pathways as targets for cancer therapy, Nat. Rev. Cancer 8 (2008) 193-204.
- [134] C.E. Wenner, C.S. Denn, S. Weinhouse, A study of glucose oxidation in whole tissue homogenates, J. Biol. Chem. 205 (1953) 409–422.
- [135] M. Israel, L. Schwartz, The metabolic advantage of tumor cells, Mol. Cancer 10 (2011) 70
- [136] Q. Zhang, F.X. Claret, Phosphatases: the new brakes for cancer development? Enzyme Res. 2012 (2012) 659649.
- [137] A.E. Vaughn, M. Deshmukh, Glucose metabolism inhibits apoptosis in neurons and cancer cells by redox inactivation of cytochrome c, Nat. Cell Biol. 10 (2008) 1477 - 1483
- [138] D.E. Atkinson, Citrate and the Citrate Cycle in the Regulation of Energy Metabolism, Biochemical Society Symposium in Honour of Hans Krebs, 1968.
- [139] H. Yan, D.W. Parsons, G. Jin, R. McLendon, B.A. Rasheed, W. Yuan, I. Kos, I. Batinic-Haberle, S. Jones, G.J. Riggins, H. Friedman, A. Friedman, D. Reardon, J. Herndon, K.W. Kinzler, V.E. Velculescu, B. Vogelstein, D.D. Bigner, IDH1 and IDH2 mutations in gliomas, N. Engl. J. Med. 360 (2009) 765-773.
- [140] D.W. Parsons, S. Jones, X. Zhang, J.C. Lin, R.J. Leary, P. Angenendt, P. Mankoo, H. Carter, I.M. Siu, G.L. Gallia, A. Olivi, R. McLendon, B.A. Rasheed, S. Keir, T. Nikolskaya, Y. Nikolsky, D.A. Busam, H. Tekleab, L.A. Diaz Jr., J. Hartigan, D.R. Smith, R.L. Strausberg, S.K. Marie, S.M. Shinjo, H. Yan, G.J. Riggins, D.D. Bigner, R. Karchin, N. Papadopoulos, G. Parmigiani, B. Vogelstein, V.E. Velculescu, K.W. Kinzler, An integrated genomic analysis of human glioblastoma multiforme, Science 321 (2008) 1807-1812.
- [141] G. Helmlinger, F. Yuan, M. Dellian, R.K. Jain, Interstitial pH and pO2 gradients in solid tumors in vivo: high-resolution measurements reveal a lack of correlation, Nat. Med. 3 (1997) 177-182.
- [142] R.A. Gatenby, E.T. Gawlinski, The glycolytic phenotype in carcinogenesis and tumor invasion: insights through mathematical models, Cancer Res. 63 (2003) 3847-3854.
- [143] C. Cadwell, G.P. Zambetti, The effects of wild-type p53 tumor suppressor activity and mutant p53 gain-of-function on cell growth, Gene 277 (2001) 15-30.
- [144] M.S. Greenblatt, W.P. Bennett, M. Hollstein, C.C. Harris, Mutations in the p53 tumor suppressor gene: clues to cancer etiology and molecular pathogenesis, Cancer Res. 54 (1994) 4855-4878.
- [145] R.B. Robey, N. Hay, Is Akt the "Warburg kinase"?-Akt-energy metabolism interactions and oncogenesis, Semin. Cancer Biol. 19 (2009) 25-31.
- [146] R. Stern, S. Shuster, B.A. Neudecker, B. Formby, Lactate stimulates fibroblast expression of hyaluronan and CD44: the Warburg effect revisited, Exp. Cell Res. 276 (2002) 24–31.
- [147] A. Hunter, A. Hendrikse, M. Renan, R. Abratt, Does the tumor microenvironment influence radiation-induced apoptosis? Apoptosis 11 (2006) 1727–1735.
- [148] R.E. Moellering, K.C. Black, C. Krishnamurty, B.K. Baggett, P. Stafford, M. Rain, R.A. Gatenby, R.J. Gillies, Acid treatment of melanoma cells selects for invasive phenotypes, Clin. Exp. Metastasis 25 (2008) 411-425.
- [149] E.K. Rofstad, B. Mathiesen, K. Kindem, K. Galappathi, Acidic extracellular pH promotes experimental metastasis of human melanoma cells in athymic nude mice, Cancer Res. 66 (2006) 6699-6707.
- [150] M.S. Ullah, A.J. Davies, A.P. Halestrap, The plasma membrane lactate transporter MCT4, but not MCT1, is up-regulated by hypoxia through a HIF-1alpha-dependent mechanism, J. Biol. Chem. 281 (2006) 9030-9037.
- [151] L.A. Shimoda, M. Fallon, S. Pisarcik, J. Wang, G.L. Semenza, HIF-1 regulates hypoxic induction of NHE1 expression and alkalinization of intracellular pH in pulmonary arterial myocytes, Am. J. Physiol. Lung Cell. Mol. Physiol. 291 (2006) L941-L949.
- [152] J. Chiche, M.C. Brahimi-Horn, J. Pouyssegur, Tumour hypoxia induces a metabolic shift causing acidosis: a common feature in cancer, J. Cell. Mol. Med. 14 (2010) 771-794.
- [153] S.J. Reshkin, A. Bellizzi, S. Caldeira, V. Albarani, I. Malanchi, M. Poignee, M. Alunni-Fabbroni, V. Casavola, M. Tommasino, Na +/H + exchanger-dependent intracellular alkalinization is an early event in malignant transformation and plays an essential role in the development of subsequent transformation-associated phenotypes, FASEB J. 14 (2000) 2185-2197.
- [154] Y. Chiang, C.Y. Chou, K.F. Hsu, Y.F. Huang, M.R. Shen, EGF upregulates Na +/H + exchanger NHE1 by post-translational regulation that is important for cervical cancer cell invasiveness, J. Cell. Physiol. 214 (2008) 810-819.
- [155] P.E. Porporato, S. Dhup, R.K. Dadhich, T. Copetti, P. Sonveaux, Anticancer targets in the glycolytic metabolism of tumors: a comprehensive review, Front Pharmacol. 2 (2011) (p.doi: 10.3389).
- [156] X. Yang, D. Wang, W. Dong, Z. Song, K. Dou, Suppression of Na+/H + exchanger 1 by RNA interference or amiloride inhibits human hepatoma cell line SMMC-7721 cell invasion, Med. Oncol. 28 (2011) 385-390.
- [157] E. Racker, M. Spector, Warburg effect revisited: merger of biochemistry and molecular biology, Science 213 (1981) 303-307.
- [158] J.H. James, C.H. Fang, S.J. Schrantz, P.O. Hasselgren, R.J. Paul, J.E. Fischer, Linkage of aerobic glycolysis to sodium-potassium transport in rat skeletal muscle.

Implications for increased muscle lactate production in sepsis, J. Clin. Invest, 98 (1996) 2388-2397.

- [159] K. Mekhail, L. Rivero-Lopez, M. Khacho, S. Lee, Restriction of rRNA synthesis by VHL maintains energy equilibrium under hypoxia, Cell Cycle 5 (2006) 2401-2413 [160] K. Smallbone, R.A. Gatenby, R.J. Gillies, P.K. Maini, D.J. Gavaghan, Metabolic
- changes during carcinogenesis: potential impact on invasiveness, J. Theor. Biol. 244 (2007) 703-713.
- [161] R. Ihnatko, M. Kubes, M. Takacova, O. Sedlakova, J. Sedlak, J. Pastorek, J. Kopacek, S. Pastorekova, Extracellular acidosis elevates carbonic anhydrase IX in human glioblastoma cells via transcriptional modulation that does not depend on hypoxia, Int. J. Oncol. 29 (2006) 1025–1033.
- [162] J. Chiche, K. Ilc, J. Laferriere, E. Trottier, F. Dayan, N.M. Mazure, M.C. Brahimi-Horn, J. Pouyssegur, Hypoxia-inducible carbonic anhydrase IX and XII promote tumor cell growth by counteracting acidosis through the regulation of the intracellular pH, Cancer Res. 69 (2009) 358-368.
- [163] V. Andres, J. Carreras, R. Cusso, Regulation of muscle phosphofructokinase by physiological concentrations of bisphosphorylated hexoses: effect of alkalinization, Biochem, Biophys, Res, Commun, 172 (1990) 328-334.
- C.C. Wykoff, N.J. Beasley, P.H. Watson, K.J. Turner, J. Pastorek, A. Sibtain, G.D. [164] Wilson, H. Turley, K.L. Talks, P.H. Maxwell, C.W. Pugh, P.J. Ratcliffe, A.L. Harris, Hypoxia-inducible expression of tumor-associated carbonic anhydrases, Cancer Res. 60 (2000) 7075-7083.
- [165] K. Fischer, P. Hoffmann, S. Voelkl, N. Meidenbauer, J. Ammer, M. Edinger, E. Gottfried, S. Schwarz, G. Rothe, S. Hoves, K. Renner, B. Timischl, A. Mackensen, L. Kunz-Schughart, R. Andreesen, S.W. Krause, M. Kreutz, Inhibitory effect of tumor cell-derived lactic acid on human T cells, Blood 109 (2007) 3812-3819.
- [166] S. Dhup, R.K. Dadhich, P.E. Porporato, P. Sonveaux, Multiple biological activities of lactic acid in cancer: influences on tumor growth, angiogenesis and metastasis, Curr. Pharm. Des. 18 (2012) 1319-1330.
- [167] G.L. Semenza, Tumor metabolism: cancer cells give and take lactate, J. Clin. Invest. 118 (2008) 3835-3837.
- [168] P. Sonveaux, F. Vegran, T. Schroeder, M.C. Wergin, J. Verrax, Z.N. Rabbani, C.J. De Saedeleer, K.M. Kennedy, C. Diepart, B.F. Jordan, M.J. Kelley, B. Gallez, M.L. Wahl, O. Feron, M.W. Dewhirst, Targeting lactate-fueled respiration selectively kills hypoxic tumor cells in mice, J. Clin. Invest. 118 (2008) 3930-3942.
- [169] L.I. Cardenas-Navia, D. Mace, R.A. Richardson, D.F. Wilson, S. Shan, M.W. Dewhirst, The pervasive presence of fluctuating oxygenation in tumors, Cancer Res. 68 (2008) 5812-5819.
- [170] E. Laconi, The evolving concept of tumor microenvironments, Bioessays 29 (2007) 738-744.
- [171] C.H. Eng, K. Yu, J. Lucas, E. White, R.T. Abraham, Ammonia derived from glutaminolysis is a diffusible regulator of autophagy, Sci. Signal. 3 (2010) (p.ra31).
- [172] O.N. Pyaskovskaya, D.L. Kolesnik, A.V. Kolobov, S.I. Vovyanko, G.I. Solyanik, Analysis of growth kinetics and proliferative heterogeneity of Lewis lung carcinoma cells growing as unfed culture, Exp. Oncol. 30 (2008) 269-275.
- [173] M.S. Ko, J.Y. Jung, I.S. Shin, E.W. Choi, J.H. Kim, S.K. Kang, J.C. Ra, Effects of expanded human adipose tissue-derived mesenchymal stem cells on the viability of cryopreserved fat grafts in the nude mouse, Int. J. Med. Sci. 8 (2011) 231-238.
- [174] S. Pavlides, A. Tsirigos, G. Migneco, D. Whitaker-Menezes, B. Chiavarina, N. Flomenberg, P.G. Frank, M.C. Casimiro, C. Wang, R.G. Pestell, U.E. Martinez-Outschoorn, A. Howell, F. Sotgia, M.P. Lisanti, The autophagic tumor stroma model of cancer: role of oxidative stress and ketone production in fueling tumor cell metabolism, Cell Cycle 9 (2010) 3485-3505.
- [175] T. Mashima, H. Seimiya, T. Tsuruo, De novo fatty-acid synthesis and related pathways as molecular targets for cancer therapy, Br. J. Cancer 100 (2009) 1369-1372
- [176] J.J. Gibbons, R.T. Abraham, K. Yu, Mammalian target of rapamycin: discovery of rapamycin reveals a signaling pathway important for normal and cancer cell growth, Semin. Oncol. 36 (Suppl. 3) (2009) S3-S17.
- E. Furuta, S.K. Pai, R. Zhan, S. Bandyopadhyay, M. Watabe, Y.Y. Mo, S. Hirota, S. [177] Hosobe, T. Tsukada, K. Miura, S. Kamada, K. Saito, M. Iiizumi, W. Liu, J. Ericsson, K. Watabe, Fatty acid synthase gene is up-regulated by hypoxia via activation of Akt and sterol regulatory element binding protein-1, Cancer Res. 68 (2008) 1003-1011.
- [178] J.A. Menendez, R. Lupu, RNA interference-mediated silencing of the p53 tumor-suppressor protein drastically increases apoptosis after inhibition of endogenous fatty acid metabolism in breast cancer cells, Int. J. Mol. Med. 15 (2005) 33-40.
- [179] J.A. Menendez, R. Lupu, Fatty acid synthase and the lipogenic phenotype in cancer pathogenesis, Nat. Rev. Cancer 7 (2007) 763-777.
- [180] F.P. Kuhajda, Fatty acid synthase and cancer: new application of an old pathway, Cancer Res. 66 (2006) 5977-5980.
- [181] K.E. Wellen, G. Hatzivassiliou, U.M. Sachdeva, T.V. Bui, J.R. Cross, C.B. Thompson, ATP-citrate lyase links cellular metabolism to histone acetylation, Science 324 (2009) 1076-1080.
- [182] B. Schlichtholz, J. Turyn, E. Goyke, M. Biernacki, K. Jaskiewicz, Z. Sledzinski, J. Swierczynski, Enhanced citrate synthase activity in human pancreatic cancer, Pancreas 30 (2005) 99-104.
- [183] V. Ganapathy, M. Thangaraju, E. Gopal, P.M. Martin, S. Itagaki, S. Miyauchi, P.D. Prasad, Sodium-coupled monocarboxylate transporters in normal tissues and in cancer, AAPS J. 10 (2008) 193-199.
- B.H. van den, Asparaginase revisited, Leuk. Lymphoma 52 (2011) 168-178. [184]
- [185] X, Tong, F, Zhao, C.B. Thompson. The molecular determinants of de novo nucleotide biosynthesis in cancer cells, Curr. Opin. Genet. Dev. 19 (2009) 32–37. H.F. Nijhout, M.C. Reed, P. Budu, C.M. Ulrich, A mathematical model of the folate cycle:
- [186] new insights into folate homeostasis, J. Biol. Chem. 279 (2004) 55008-55016.

- [187] B. Delage, D.A. Fennell, L. Nicholson, I. McNeish, N.R. Lemoine, T. Crook, P.W. Szlosarek, Arginine deprivation and argininosuccinate synthetase expression in the treatment of cancer, Int. J. Cancer 126 (2010) 2762–2772.
- [188] D.N. Wheatley, R. Kilfeather, A. Stitt, E. Campbell, Integrity and stability of the citrulline-arginine pathway in normal and tumour cell lines, Cancer Lett. 227 (2005) 141–152.
- [189] R.L. Bilton, G.W. Booker, The subtle side to hypoxia inducible factor (HIFalpha) regulation, Eur. J. Biochem. 270 (2003) 791–798.
- [190] J. Muntane, M.D. la Mata, Nitric oxide and cancer, World J Hepatol 2 (2010) 337–344.
 [191] K. Mujoo, V.G. Sharin, E. Martin, B.K. Choi, C. Sloan, L.E. Nikonoff, A.Y. Kots, F.
- [191] K. Mujoo, V.G. Sharin, E. Martin, B.K. Choi, C. Sloan, L.E. Nikonoff, A.Y. Kots, F. Murad, Role of soluble guanylyl cyclase-cyclic GMP signaling in tumor cell proliferation, Nitric Oxide 22 (2010) 43–50.
- [192] K. Soda, The mechanisms by which polyamines accelerate tumor spread, J. Exp. Clin. Cancer Res. 30 (2011) 95.
- [193] J. Luo, Y.N. Li, F. Wang, W.M. Zhang, X. Geng, S-adenosylmethionine inhibits the growth of cancer cells by reversing the hypomethylation status of c-myc and H-ras in human gastric cancer and colon cancer, Int. J. Biol. Sci. 6 (2010) 784–795.
- [194] S.C. Lu, J.M. Mato, S-Adenosylmethionine in cell growth, apoptosis and liver cancer, J. Gastroenterol. Hepatol. 23 (Suppl. 1) (2008) S73–S77.
- [195] S.C. Lu, Regulation of hepatic glutathione synthesis: current concepts and controversies, FASEB J. 13 (1999) 1169–1183.
- [196] M. Weinmann, V. Jendrossek, D. Guner, B. Goecke, C. Belka, Cyclic exposure to hypoxia and reoxygenation selects for tumor cells with defects in mitochondrial apoptotic pathways, FASEB J. 18 (2004) 1906–1908.
- [197] Y. Zhao, J.L. Coloff, E.C. Ferguson, S.R. Jacobs, K. Cui, J.C. Rathmell, Glucose metabolism attenuates p53 and Puma-dependent cell death upon growth factor deprivation, J. Biol. Chem. 283 (2008) 36344–36353.
- [198] J.C. Rathmell, C.J. Fox, D.R. Plas, P.S. Hammerman, R.M. Cinalli, C.B. Thompson, Akt-directed glucose metabolism can prevent Bax conformation change and promote growth factor-independent survival, Mol. Cell. Biol. 23 (2003) 7315–7328.
- [199] N.N. Danial, C.F. Gramm, L. Scorrano, C.Y. Zhang, S. Krauss, A.M. Ranger, S.R. Datta, M.E. Greenberg, LJ. Licklider, B.B. Lowell, S.P. Gygi, S.J. Korsmeyer, BAD and glucokinase reside in a mitochondrial complex that integrates glycolysis and apoptosis, Nature 424 (2003) 952–956.
- [200] P.L. Pedersen, S. Mathupala, A. Rempel, J.F. Geschwind, Y.H. Ko, Mitochondrial bound type II hexokinase: a key player in the growth and survival of many cancers and an ideal prospect for therapeutic intervention, Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1555 (2002) 14–20.
- [201] J.E. Ricci, C. Munoz-Pinedo, P. Fitzgerald, B. Bailly-Maitre, G.A. Perkins, N. Yadava, I.E. Scheffler, M.H. Ellisman, D.R. Green, Disruption of mitochondrial function during apoptosis is mediated by caspase cleavage of the p75 subunit of complex I of the electron transport chain, Cell 117 (2004) 773–786.
- [202] E. Ferraro, A. Pulicati, M.T. Cencioni, M. Cozzolino, F. Navoni, S. di Martino, R. Nardacci, M.T. Carri, F. Cecconi, Apoptosome-deficient cells lose cytochrome c through proteasomal degradation but survive by autophagy-dependent glycolysis, Mol. Biol. Cell 19 (2008) 3576–3588.
- [203] A. Colell, J.E. Ricci, S. Tait, S. Milasta, U. Maurer, L. Bouchier-Hayes, P. Fitzgerald, A. Guio-Carrion, N.J. Waterhouse, C.W. Li, B. Mari, P. Barbry, D.D. Newmeyer, H.M. Beere, D.R. Green, GAPDH and autophagy preserve survival after apoptotic cyto-chrome c release in the absence of caspase activation, Cell 129 (2007) 983–997.
- [204] S.L. O'Kane, R.J. Pound, A. Campbell, N. Chaudhuri, M.J. Lind, L. Cawkwell, Expression of bcl-2 family members in malignant pleural mesothelioma, Acta Oncol. 45 (2006) 449–453.
- [205] S.N. Willis, L. Chen, G. Dewson, A. Wei, E. Naik, J.I. Fletcher, J.M. Adams, D.C. Huang, Proapoptotic Bak is sequestered by Mcl-1 and Bcl-xL, but not Bcl-2, until displaced by BH3-only proteins, Genes Dev. 19 (2005) 1294–1305.

- [206] U. Maurer, C. Charvet, A.S. Wagman, E. Dejardin, D.R. Green, Glycogen synthase kinase-3 regulates mitochondrial outer membrane permeabilization and apoptosis by destabilization of MCL-1, Mol. Cell 21 (2006) 749–760.
- [207] O. Meynet, M. Beneteau, M.A. Jacquin, L.A. Pradelli, A. Cornille, M. Carles, J.E. Ricci, Glycolysis inhibition targets Mcl-1 to restore sensitivity of lymphoma cells to ABT-737-induced apoptosis, Leukemia 5 (2011) 1145–1147.
- [208] I. Philippe, Z. Xiao-Dong, L. Edwige, L. Marie-Helene, A. Stephane, L. Hubert, P. Laurent, Experimental results using 3-bromopyruvate in mesothelioma: in vitro and in vivo studies, J. Bioenerg. Biomembr. 44 (2012) 81–90.
- [209] E. Gottlieb, M.G. Vander Heiden, C.B. Thompson, Bcl-x(L) prevents the initial decrease in mitochondrial membrane potential and subsequent reactive oxygen species production during tumor necrosis factor alpha-induced apoptosis, Mol. Cell. Biol. 20 (2000) 5680–5689.
- [210] M.G. Vander Heiden, C.B. Thompson, Bcl-2 proteins: regulators of apoptosis or of mitochondrial homeostasis? Nat. Cell Biol. 1 (1999) 209–216.
- [211] S. Zhao, W. Xu, W. Jiang, W. Yu, Y. Lin, T. Zhang, J. Yao, L. Zhou, Y. Zeng, H. Li, Y. Li, J. Shi, W. An, S.M. Hancock, F. He, L. Qin, J. Chin, P. Yang, X. Chen, Q. Lei, Y. Xiong, K.L. Guan, Regulation of cellular metabolism by protein lysine acetylation, Science 327 (2010) 1000–1004.
- [212] C.H. Yi, H. Pan, J. Seebacher, I.H. Jang, S.G. Hyberts, G.J. Hefffron, M.G. Vander Heiden, R. Yang, F. Li, J.W. Locasale, H. Sharfi, B. Zhai, R. Rodriguez-Mias, H. Luithardt, L.C. Cantley, G.Q. Daley, J.M. Asara, S.P. Gygi, G. Wagner, C.F. Liu, J. Yuan, Metabolic regulation of protein N-alpha-acetylation by Bcl-xL promotes cell survival, Cell 146 (2011) 607–620.
- [213] H. Deng, F. Yu, J. Chen, Y. Zhao, J. Xiang, A. Lin, Phosphorylation of Bad at Thr-201 by JNK1 promotes glycolysis through activation of phosphofructokinase-1, J. Biol. Chem. 283 (2008) 20754–20760.
- [214] N. El Mjiyad, A. Caro-Maldonado, S. Ramírez-Peinado, C. Muñoz-Pinedo, Sugar-free approaches to cancer cell killing, Oncogene 30 (2011) 253–264.
- [215] X.H. Lowman, M.A. McDonnell, A. Kosloske, O.A. Odumade, C. Jenness, C.B. Karim, R. Jemmerson, A. Kelekar, The proapoptotic function of Noxa in human leukemia cells is regulated by the kinase Cdk5 and by glucose, Mol. Cell 40 (2010) 823–833.
- [216] F.M. Wensveen, N.L. Alves, I.A. Derks, K.A. Reedquist, E. Eldering, Apoptosis induced by overall metabolic stress converges on the Bcl-2 family proteins Noxa and Mcl-1, Apoptosis 16 (2011) 708–721.
- [217] C.G. Concannon, L.P. Tuffy, P. Weisova, H.P. Bonner, D. Davila, C. Bonner, M.C. Devocelle, A. Strasser, M.W. Ward, J.H. Prehn, AMP kinase-mediated activation of the BH3-only protein Bim couples energy depletion to stress-induced apoptosis, J. Cell Biol. 189 (2010) 83–94.
- [218] W.G.J. Kaelin, C.B. Thompson, Q&A: Cancer: clues from cell metabolism, Nature 465 (2010) 562–564.
- [219] D. Hanahan, R.A. Weinberg, Hallmarks of cancer: the next generation, Cell 144 (2011) 646–674.
- [220] R.L. Elstrom, D.E. Bauer, M. Buzzai, R. Karnauskas, M.H. Harris, D.R. Plas, H. Zhuang, R.M. Cinalli, A. Alavi, C.M. Rudin, C.B. Thompson, Akt stimulates aerobic glycolysis in cancer cells, Cancer Res. 64 (2004) 3892–3899.
- [221] C.V. Dang, J.W. Kim, P. Gao, J. Yustein, The interplay between MYC and HIF in cancer, Nat. Rev. Cancer 8 (2008) 51–56.
- [222] J.F. Geschwind, C.S. Georgiades, Y.H. Ko, P.L. Pedersen, Recently elucidated energy catabolism pathways provide opportunities for novel treatments in hepatocellular carcinoma, Expert Rev. Anticancer Ther. 4 (2004) 449–457.
- [223] M. Abolhassani, A. Guais, E. Sanders, F. Campion, I. Fichtner, J. Bonte, G. Baronzio, G. Fiorentini, M. Israël, L. Schwartz, Screening of well-established drugs targeting cancer metabolism: reproducibility of the efficacy of a highly effective drug combination in mice, Invest New Drugs 30 (2012) 1331–1342.